
November 15, 2023 



2



Metropolitan Transit Commission November 15, 2023 Agenda 

METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
Wednesday, November 15, 2023 

3:30pm 
Charlotte-Mecklenburg Government Center 

Conference Room 267 - WebEx  
AGENDA 

Items of Note 
• At the last MTC meeting, members requested the governance review that was

completed through UNC Charlotte in 2004 that made recommendations for
amendments to the original Interlocal Agreement and minutes from a November 15,
2005 County Commission meeting, where the County approved the amended
Interlocal Agreement. Materials are enclosed in the agenda packet. (p.5-40)

• As you are aware, attorneys for the City, County, and Towns are working on
proposed amendments to the MTC Interlocal Agreement and are scheduled to have
their first meeting on the matter Thursday, November 16, 2023.

I. Call to Order ...................................................................................................... Mayor Vi Lyles 
• Attendance (Introductions)

II. Approval of the October 25, 2023 Summary (p.42-48)..................................... Mayor Vi Lyles 

III. Public Comments

IV. Transit Work Group Update………..…Mayor Higdon/ Mayor Bales/ Councilmember Driggs 

V. Interim Chief Executive Officer’s Report (p.50-70) ............................................... Brent Cagle 
• Communications to MTC Board Members (p.50-51)
• Safety Reports (p.53-60)
• Ridership Reports (p.62-68)
• Sales Tax Report (p.70)

VI. Informational Items
• None

VII. Action Items
• Independence Busway Update (p.72-73) ................................................... Kelly Goforth 
• February 2024 Service Change & Title VI Analysis (p.75-83) .................... Bruce Jones 

VIII. Report from the Chair of the Transit Service Advisory Committee (TSAC) .... Krissy Oechslin 

3



Metropolitan Transit Commission November 15, 2023 Agenda 

IX. Report from the Chair of the Citizens Transit Advisory Group (CTAG) ............. Jeffrey Parker 

X. Adjourn

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



1

MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

NOVEMBER 15, 2005 5:00 P.M. 

N O R T H   C A R O L I N A 
MECKLENBURG COUNTY 

The Board of Commissioners of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, met in 
Informal Session in the Meeting Chamber Conference Room of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg 
Government Center at 5:00 p.m. and in Formal Session in the Meeting Chamber of the Charlotte-
Mecklenburg Government Center at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, November 15, 2005. 

ATTENDANCE 

Present: Chairman H. Parks Helms and Commissioners 
J. Daniel Bishop, Dumont Clarke, Bill James
Norman A. Mitchell, Sr., Jim Puckett
Wilhelmenia I. Rembert, Jennifer Roberts
and Valerie C. Woodard
County Manager Harry L. Jones, Sr.
County Attorney Marvin A. Bethune
Clerk to the Board Janice S. Paige

Absent: None. 

____________________

Commissioner Bishop was absent when the meeting was called to order and until noted in the 
minutes. 

-INFORMAL SESSION-

(1) STAFF BRIEFINGS – LAND BOND STATUS REPORT

The Board received an update on the 1999 Land Bonds. 

Nancy Brunnemer with Real Estate Services gave the report. 

The report addressed the amount allocated for the six Towns, the balance remaining, authorized 
expenditures to date, amounts Towns estimate that they would like to spend out of the remaining 
funds, total acreage acquired, completed acquisitions, and acquisitions moving toward completion. 

A copy of the report is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

It was noted that $1.4 million was expected to come back to the County from the sale of the Trolley 
Barn property back to Crescent Resources. 

Commissioner James asked could funds from the sale of the Trolley Barn property be placed in the 
Historic Landmarks Revolving Fund? 

Finance Director Harry Weatherly said the funds must go back into land bonds and explained why. 

General Manager Bobbie Shields informed the Board that the Historic Landmarks Commission plans 
to come to the Board in December to ask if funds from the sale of the Trolley Barn property could be 
split between the Historic Landmarks Commission and Charlotte Trolley.  

Chairman Helms asked staff to research whether the funds could be split, in anticipation of the 
Historic Landmarks’ request. 

20



2

Commissioner James asked about the status of the $1 million that was left for the Town of 
Matthews.  

Attorney Bethune addressed this inquiry and explained that this amount in actuality may not be left. 

County Manager Jones noted that the defeat of the school bond and land bond in the last election has 
thus, limited the County’s availability of resources for the purchase of land. 

County Manager Jones noted also that there were several items already being proposed for the use of 
a significant amount of the balance of land bonds, such as the Town of Matthews project, which the 
Board has made a firm commitment to and the Westmoreland Athletic Complex, which a 
commitment had not yet been made but was scheduled for Board consideration.  

County Manager Jones suggested two options for Board consideration: 1) move forward with those 
requests being proposed, which would further reduce existing resources for land acquisition or 2) 
that the Board direct the County Manager to review what the County’s needs were and prioritize 
those needs and present to the Board a plan for expending funds based on the Board’s prioritization 
of those needs, which could be in concert with the County Manager’s recommendation or different. 

County Manager Jones said he was not expressing opposition to any of the requests being presented 
to the Board, but was merely reminding the Board of existing circumstances, in light of the failed 
school and land bond referendums. 

Commissioner Puckett asked whether the Town of Cornelius Multiple park/open space tracts shown 
in the report at $2 million, was tied to Robbins Park or over and above that?  Nancy Brunnemer with 
Real Estate Services said that it was over and above that and that it was a list of properties recently 
submitted by the Town for acquisition.  

Commissioner Puckett asked for clarification with respect to the Town of Pineville, since the Town 
has not submitted any requests to the County. County Attorney Bethune explained the process for 
unspent funds.  

County Attorney Bethune also noted that the items on the report shown in red were those that the 
County Manager was speaking of when he talked about prioritization of needs, except for the one for 
Matthews, which has been committed. 

County Attorney Bethune explained that the County Manager would take the items noted in red in 
the report and prioritize them along with all of the County’s other needs and as result some may get 
funded and some may not. 

This concluded the discussion of the 1999 Land Bonds. 

Note: The land bond update was presented for information purposes only. No action was taken or 
required. 

(2A) CLOSED SESSION LAND ACQUISITION  

Motion was made by Commissioner James, seconded by Commissioner Woodard and carried  
8-0 with Commissioners Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and
Woodard voting yes, to go into Closed Session to discuss Land Acquisition.

The Board went into Closed Session at 5:45 p.m. and came back into Open Session at 5:48 
p.m.

Commissioner Bishop was present when the Board came back into Open Session. He entered 
the meeting during Closed Session. 

21



3

(3) REMOVAL OF ITEMS FROM CONSENT

The Board identified items they wanted removed from consent and voted upon separately. The 
items identified were Items 9, 10, 15, and 18. 

The Board then proceeded to the Meeting Chamber for the remainder of the meeting. 

____________________

-FORMAL SESSION- 

Invocation was given by Commissioner Bishop, which was followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to 
the Flag. 

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION 

Prior to the start of the meeting, several Commissioners and staff were given a flu shot at their 
request. After the shots had been administered, Dr. Wynn Mabry, director of the Health 
Department, addressed the availability of flu shots in the community.  

PROCLAMATIONS AND AWARDS  

(1A) NATIONAL ADOPTION AWARENESS MONTH 2005 

Motion was made by Commissioner Rembert, seconded by Commissioner Woodard and  
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to adopt a proclamation recognizing November 2005 as 
“National Adoption Awareness Month” in Mecklenburg County.   

The Board also recognized adoptive families in Mecklenburg County for their efforts to provide  
permanent homes for children. 

The proclamation was read by Commissioner Rembert, received and addressed by Richard  
Jacobsen, Director of Social Services and by Becky Eissert and Judge Rickye McKoy-Mitchell  
who are both adoptive parents.

A copy of the Proclamation is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

(1B) AMERICAN INDIAN HERITAGE MONTH 

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner Rembert and unanimously 
carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts  
and Woodard voting yes, to adopt a proclamation designating November 2005 as American 
Indian Heritage Month. 

The proclamation was read by Commissioner Roberts and received by Letha Strickland. 

A copy of the Proclamation is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

(1C) PARTNERS FOR PARKS, INC. SCHOLARSHIP CHECK PRESENTATION 

The Board received a check presentation from Partners for Parks, Inc. in the amount of $29,480 for 
Mecklenburg County Park and Recreation, Therapeutic Recreation Summer Day Camp Scholarships 
2005. 

The check was presented by Partners for Parks board members, Joe Cogdell and Doug  
Youngblood, who were joined at the podium by Lola Masaad of Park and Recreation. 

(2) PUBLIC APPEARANCE

22



4

No one appeared to speak during the Public Appearance portion of the meeting. 

(3) APPOINTMENTS - NONE

(4) PUBLIC HEARINGS - CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION (COPS)

Motion was made by Commissioner Rembert, seconded by Commissioner James and 
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, 
Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to open a public hearing regarding financing Court, 
School and County Building facilities through Certificates of Participation.   

Project Authorized 
Project 

Authorization 
Proposed Sale 

Amount Balance 

Court 2002 $53,000,000 $22,000,000 $      - 
Schools 2003   98,500,000   40,000,000   13,000,000 
Schools 2004   73,900,000   45,000,000   14,900,000 
County Facilities 2004     2,200,000        700,000          - 

Note: The amounts recommended for sale at this time have been refined from the preliminary 
amounts estimated earlier this year.  These amounts will allow the previously approved projects to 
continue and the sale proceeds are sufficient for construction needs to the next scheduled financing 
in January 2007.  

No one appeared to speak. 

The Board then considered Item 33 Bond and Certificates of Participation Sale Resolutions as 
noted. 

(33) BOND AND CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION SALE RESOLUTIONS

PUBLIC HEARING 

The Chairman announced that this was the hour, day and place fixed for a public hearing held 
pursuant to Sections 160A-20(g) and 153A-158-1 of the North Carolina General Statutes, as 

amended, for the purpose of considering (1) whether the Board of Commissioners for the County 
(the “Board”) should approve an installment financing contract under which the County would 

obtain financing pursuant to Section 160A-20 of the North Carolina General Statutes, as 
amended, in an amount not to exceed $110,000,000, for the purpose of accomplishing all or a 
portion of the Projects described in the Notice of Public Hearing and under which the County 

would secure the repayment by it of moneys advanced pursuant to such documents by granting a 
lien on a portion of the property subject to the Projects and (2) determining whether the County 

may acquire any interest in school property that is subject to the Projects from the Charlotte-
Mecklenburg Board of Education.  Any property acquired by the County would be subjected to 

the lien described above and leased back to the grantor.   

The Chairman announced that the notice of the public hearing was published in The 
Charlotte Observer on November 3, 2005. 

It was requested that the Clerk to the Board inquire to determine whether there were any 
persons who wished to speak at the public hearing.  The names, addresses and testimony of the 
persons who were present and who offered comments on the proposed installment financing contract 
and the County’s acquisition of school property, pursuant to or who responded in writing to the 
notice of public hearing, are as follows:   

After the Board had heard all persons who had requested to be heard, Commissioner James 
moved that the public hearing be closed.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Roberts and 
was unanimously adopted. 

23



5

* * *

Commissioner James introduced the following Resolution which was read by title, and 
moved it be adopted: 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING AN INSTALLMENT 
FINANCING. 

WHEREAS, financing pursuant to Section 160A-20 of the North Carolina General Statutes 
must be approved by the Local Government Commission of North Carolina and will only be 
approved if the findings of Section 159-151(b) of the North Carolina General Statutes are met; 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the County duly conducted a public hearing 
today regarding an installment financing agreement to finance the Project;  

WHEREAS, there have been available at this meeting drafts of the forms of the following: 

(1) An Installment Financing Agreement to be dated as of February 1, 2006 (the
“Contract”) between the County and Mecklenburg County Public Facilities
Corporation (the “Corporation”);

(2) A Deed of Trust to be dated as of February 1, 2006 (the “Deed of Trust”), from the
County to a trustee for the benefit of the Corporation;

(3) A Trust Agreement to be dated as of February 1, 2006 (the “Trust Agreement”)
between the Corporation and a trustee (the “Trustee”);

(4) An Official Statement (the “Official Statement”) relating to Variable Rate
Certificates of Participation evidencing proportionate undivided interests in revenues
to be received by the Corporation under the Contract (the “Certificates”);

(5) A Certificate Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Contract”) among Wachovia Bank,
National Association (the “Underwriter”), the County and the Corporation;

(6) A Standby Certificate Purchase Agreement to be dated as of February 1, 2006 (the
“Liquidity Facility”) between the County and a provider (the “Bank”); and

(7) A Remarketing Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 (the “Remarketing
Agreement”) among the County, the Corporation and Wachovia Bank, National
Association (the “Remarketing Agent”).

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of the County desires to approve the Contract and 
the sale of the Certificates and to authorize other actions in connection therewith; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County 
as follows: 

1. The Board hereby finds and determines in connection with the proposed installment
financing agreement that (a) such proposed installment financing agreement is
necessary or expedient to the County, (b) such proposed installment financing
agreement, under current circumstances, is preferable to a bond issue of the County
for the same purpose, (c) the sums estimated to fall due under such proposed
installment financing agreement are adequate and not excessive for its proposed
purpose, (d) the County’s debt management procedures and policies are good and its
debt will continue to be managed in strict compliance with the law, (e) any increase
in taxes necessary to meet the sums estimated to fall due under such proposed
installment financing agreement will not be excessive and (f) the County is not in
default regarding any of its debt service obligations.

2. The Board hereby requests the Local Government Commission of North Carolina to
approve such proposed installment financing agreement under Article 8 of Chapter
159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina.

24



6

3. The County Manager and Director of Finance are hereby designated as
representatives of the County to file an application for approval of such proposed
installment financing agreement with the Local Government Commission of North
Carolina and are authorized to take such other action as may be advisable in
connection with the negotiation of such proposed installment financing agreement
and the development of the related financing; and all actions heretofore taken by the
County Manager and Director of Finance relating to such matters are hereby
approved, ratified and confirmed.

4. Each of the Contract, the Deed of Trust, the Purchase Contract, the Remarketing
Agreement and the Liquidity Facility, in the form submitted to this meeting, is
hereby approved, and the Chairman of the Board, the County Manager, the Director
of Finance and the Clerk to the Board are each hereby authorized and directed to
execute and deliver each of those documents, on behalf of the County, with such
changes, insertions or omissions as each may approve, the execution thereof by any
of them to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval.

5. The Trust Agreement, in the form submitted to this meeting, is hereby approved in
substantially such form, with such changes, insertions or omissions as appropriate.

6. The Official Statement, in the form submitted to this meeting, is hereby approved, in
substantially such form, with such changes, insertions and omissions as appropriate,
and the use thereof in connection with the public offering and sale of the Certificates
is hereby authorized.  The Chairman of the Board, the County Manager and the
Director of Finance are each hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver
on behalf of the County, the Official Statement in substantially such form, with such
changes, insertions and omissions as each may approve, the execution thereof by any
of them to constitute conclusive evidence of such approval.

7. The Chairman of the Board, the County Manager, the Director of Finance, the Clerk
to the Board and the County Attorney are each hereby authorized to take any and all
such further action and to execute and deliver such other documents as may be
necessary or advisable to carry out the intent of this Resolution and to effect the
installment financing pursuant to the Contract.  Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Director of Finance is authorized to approve all details of the
financing, including without limitation, the amount advanced under the Contract
(which shall not exceed $110,000,000), the annual principal payments under the
Contract, the term of the Contract, and the discount below the principal amount of
the Certificates at which the Certificates are sold to the Underwriter, if any.
Execution of the Contract by the Chairman of the Board, the County Manager or the
Director of Finance shall conclusively evidence approval of all such details of the
financing.

8. All actions of the County effectuating the proposed financing are hereby approved,
ratified and authorized pursuant to and in accordance with the transactions
contemplated by the documents referred to above.

9. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

Commissioner Puckett seconded the motion and the motion was adopted by the following 
vote: 

AYES: Commissioners Dan Bishop, Dumont Clarke, H. Parks Helms, Bill 
James, Norman A. Mitchell, Sr., Jim Puckett, Wilhelmenia I. Rembert, Jennifer Roberts, and 
Valerie C. Woodard 

NAYS: None 

Resolution and Extracts recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # ______. 

*    *    *

25



7

Commissioner James introduced the following resolution, a copy of which had been provided to 

each Commissioner, and the title of which appeared in the agenda for the meeting: 

RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 
$89,000,000 VARIABLE RATE GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2006A 

Upon motion of Commissioner James, seconded by Commissioner Clarke, the following 

resolution was passed by the following vote: 

AYES: Commissioners Dan Bishop, Dumont Clarke, H. Parks Helms, Bill James, 
Norman A. Mitchell, Sr., Jim Puckett, Wilhelmenia I. Rembert, Jennifer 
Roberts, and Valerie C. Woodard 

Noes:  None. 

*          *          *          *          *          * 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) of the County of 

Mecklenburg, North Carolina (the “Issuer”): 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has considered and evaluated both fixed and variable rate debt 

alternatives; 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has considered and recognized that the current interest rates on fixed 

rate debt instruments are low and has determined that the estimated interest rate at which fixed rate 

could be issued is 4.35%; 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has considered and recognized that variable interest rate debt 

instruments subject the Issuer to the risk of higher interest rates in the future, that the rate may be 

higher than the fixed rates that are currently available to the Issuer, and that in addition to the 

variable interest cost, the Issuer must pay the fees of the Liquidity Provider and the Remarketing 

Agent, which fees will increase the cost of the variable rate debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer believes that for this issue variable rate debt financing is preferable 

because (a) the initial interest rate is substantially below the fixed rate indicated above, (b) a variable 

rate provides the possibility of substantial cost savings over the life of the issue, and (c) the interest 

rate can be fixed at any time. 

1. Pursuant to and in accordance with the following bond orders adopted by the Board,

the Issuer shall issue its bonds in the principal amount of $89,000,000:  

$2,000,000 from law enforcement facilities bond order approved at referendum November 8, 

26



8

2005; 

$7,000,000 from community college facilities bond order approved at referendum November 

8, 2005; 

$1,000,000 from park and recreation facilities bond order approved at referendum November 

2, 2004; 

$39,000,000 from school facilities bond order approved at referendum November 5, 2002; 

$15,000,000 from school facilities bond order approved at referendum November 7, 2000; 

$25,000,000 from land bond order approved at referendum November 2, 1999.   

The period of usefulness of the capital projects to be financed by the issuance of the bonds is 

a period of 40 years, computed from the date of the bonds. 

2. The bonds to be issued pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall be designated

“County of Mecklenburg, North Carolina Variable Rate General Obligation Bonds, Series 2006A” 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Bonds”).  The Bonds shall be issued pursuant to the terms of G.S. 

159-79.  The North Carolina Local Government Commission will specifically determine pursuant to

G.S. 159-79(a)(1) that a Credit Facility in addition to the Standby Bond Purchase Agreement 

referred to below is not required.   

3. The Bonds shall be issued substantially in the form and in accordance with the terms

set forth in Exhibit 1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, together with such 

changes not inconsistent with the general tenor hereof and thereof as the County Manager and the 

County Director of Finance, with the advice of counsel, may deem appropriate, their execution of 

closing certificates in connection with the issuance of the Bonds to evidence conclusively the 

authorization and approval thereof by the Board. 

4. The Board hereby requests the North Carolina Local Government Commission to sell

the Bonds with variable interest rate at private sale and without advertisement and designates the 

County Manager and the County Director of Finance as the persons who must approve the price or 

prices at which the Bonds are sold by the North Carolina Local Government Commission.  The 

purchase price of the Bonds shall be 100% of the par amount of the Bonds, and the maximum initial 

interest rate shall be 12% per annum. 

5. The forms, terms, provisions and distribution and use by Wachovia Bank, National

Association (the “Underwriter”) of the Tender Agent Agreement among the Issuer, the Tender 

27



9

Agent/Paying Agent and Wachovia Bank, National Association, the Bond Purchase Agreement 

among the Issuer, the Local Government Commission and the Underwriter, the Standby Bond 

Purchase Agreement between the Issuer and DEPFA Bank, PLC, New York Branch, the 

Remarketing Agreement between the Issuer and Wachovia Bank, National Association, and the 

Official Statement with respect to the Bonds are hereby approved in all respects, and each of the 

officers of the Board, the County Manager and the County Director of Finance are hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and deliver those documents in substantially the forms presented to this 

meeting, together with such changes not inconsistent with the general tenor hereof and thereof as 

they, with the advice of counsel, may deem necessary and appropriate, such execution and delivery 

to evidence conclusively the authorization and approval thereof by the Board.  Each of those officers 

and employees are also authorized and directed to execute and deliver any certificates or other 

documents they, with the advice of counsel, may deem necessary or appropriate to effect the 

transactions contemplated by this resolution and the other documents described above, such 

execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of the approval and authorization thereof by the 

Board. 

6. The Issuer covenants to comply with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of

1986, as amended, to the extent required to preserve the exclusion from gross income of interest on 

the Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

7. This resolution shall take effect upon its passage.

EXHIBIT 1 

Available for review in the Finance Department. 

Resolution and Extracts recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # ______. 

(2A) CLOSED SESSION LAND ACQUISITION 

Motion was made by Commissioner James, seconded by Commissioner Rembert and  
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to approve the purchase of +/- 43.31 acres  
(all of Tax Parcels 019-191-02 and 019-191-21) off Holbrooks Road from Catawba Lands  
Conservancy for $8,195 per acre. 
(5) ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORTS - NONE

(6) MANAGER’S REPORT - NONE

28



10

CONSENT ITEMS 

Motion was made by Commissioner Rembert, seconded by Commissioner Roberts and 
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, 
Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to approve the following items with the exception of 
Items 9,10, 15, and 18 to be vote upon separately: 

(7) APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Approve minutes of Regular Meeting held November 1, 2005 and Closed Session minutes of  
November 1, 2005.  

Approve amending minutes of October 18, 2005 to make a correction in the motion to  
go into Closed Session that should have indicated the name of the case that was discussed in  
Closed Session under Consult with Attorney, which was Paul Midgett V. James Pendergraph, 
Rodney Collins, Paul Gee, Doltheia Thigpen, Aerris Smith, And Gabriel Hill. 

(8) IV-E MAXIMIZATION FUNDING – DSS

Recognize, receive, and appropriate federal IV-E Maximization funds in the amount of $73,717. 

Note: Federal IV-E Maximization funding in the amount of $73,717 was passed through via the 
State to Mecklenburg County.  The funds are due and payable by the State of North Carolina to 
Lutheran Family Services, Inc., a contract service provider to the DSS Youth and Family 
Services Division that provides foster care and group home services to DSS children.  Service 
providers receive these funds under the State IV-E Maximization program for the difference 
between their State- approved facility rate and the lesser reported amount paid by the County in 
the Child Welfare System for foster care services. Rather than send the funds directly to the 
service provider, the State sent the funds to Mecklenburg County with the request that DSS 
forward the funds to Lutheran Family Services, Inc. 

(11) NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION COMMUNITY
TRANSPORTATION GRANT APPLICATION – SET PUBLIC HEARING

Schedule a public hearing for December 6, 2005 at 6:30 p.m. to receive comments on the  
Mecklenburg County Department of Social Services’ application for the North Carolina  
Department of Transportation’s Community Transportation Grant for Fiscal Year 2006-2007;  
and authorize Clerk to the Board to publish notice of intent to hold a public hearing.   

(12) VEHICLE PURCHASES – DSS

Approve the purchase of (4) 25 foot light transit vehicles with wheelchair lifts by the Department of 
Social Services.  

(13) AREA MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY FIRST QUARTER FY 2006 REPORT

Recognize and receive the First Quarter 2006 Area Mental Health Authority Report. 

Financial Management: 

Revenues 

              Budgeted             Actual  % 
              Revenues             Revenues Received 

Revenue Source 
Medicaid  $21,789,704.00 $635,396.92 2.92%

29



11

Medicaid-CAP 2,507,160.00 207,597.09 8.28%
State and Federal 29,617,716.00 2,274,463.94 7.68%
State – CTSP 1,352,162.00 0.00 0.00% 
State - MR/MI 2,254,590.00 0.00 0.00% 
Third Party/Other 167,000.00 33,812.43 20.25% 
Grants  648,069.00 56,042.62 8.65%
County  35,217,827.00 11,132,525.99 31.61%
Total Revenues $93,554,228.00 $14,339,838.99 15.33% 

 Expenditures 

Budgeted        Actual  % 
Expenditures        Expenditures Spent 

Service Continuum 
Children's Developmental Services $5,488,094.00 $1,222,664.55 22.28% 
Child & Adolescent Services 19,300,279.00 2,562,178.46 13.28%
Adult Mental Health 6,723,504.00 1,092,212.04 16.24% 
Adult Substance Abuse 11,668,077.00 1,907,260.40 16.35%
Local Management Entity 12,866,762.00 2,125,002.32 16.52%
BHC Randolph 15,263,242.00 3,261,632.76 21.37% 
Developmental Disabilities 22,244,270.00 2,168,888.46 9.75%
Total Expenditures $93,554,228.00 $14,339,838.99 15.33% 

Note: Regulations require that the Financial Management section of the report be noted in the  
minutes. 

A copy of the report is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

(14) DISPOSAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH PEST MANAGEMENT RECORDS

Approve the disposal of Public Health Pest Management Records, ie. complaints, applications,  
and service requests from 1983-2000. 

(16) BINGHAM ROAD AGREEMENT AT MALLARD CREEK COMMUNITY PARK

Authorize the County Manager to enter into an agreement with the Charlotte-Mecklenburg 
Board of Education and the Oehler and Dixon Families to modify existing Bingham Road 
encumbrances to accommodate CMS’ plans for access to the new high school facility and to 
improve the road’s current functions serving the adjoining land owners. 

Agreement recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # ______. 

(17) LAND ACQUISITION FOR MALLARD CREEK HIGH SCHOOL

Approve $250,000 purchase price for 3.14-acre Tax Parcel 029-331-14 off Johnston-Oehler 
Road by the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education for Mallard Creek High School. 

(19) COMMUNITY HOUSE ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

Approve conveyance of .74-acre for permanent right of way, .45-acre for a temporary construction 
easement and .01-acre for a permanent drainage easement from Tax Parcels 229-041-11, 229-041- 
18 and 229-041-31 along Community House Road at the Ballantyne District Park site to the North 
Carolina Department of Transportation for $108,500. 

Note: Conveyance is in connection with Community House roadway improvements. 

(20) CHARLOTTE UNITED FUTBOL CLUB, INC (CUFI) – CONTRACT

30



12

 TERMINATION 

Accept a notice by Charlotte United Futbol Club, Inc (CuFI) of an offer to terminate a 30-year  
lease agreement on Harrisburg Road Park property in exchange for a credit for planning and  
development improvements of up to $53,517 plus the potential of an additional $10,223 if  
existing permits and surveys are usable, toward field use after development; and authorize the  
County Manager to negotiate and execute a lease termination agreement. 

Note: In 2001 Mecklenburg County entered into a 30- year lease agreement for CUFI to develop 
and maintain Harrisburg Road Park for the purpose of developing soccer fields. CUFI is not in 
a financial position to develop these fields yet, however they have completed plans for the fields 
as well as obtained some permits.  Mecklenburg County Park and Recreation Department 
(MCPRD) is in a position to build much needed soccer fields in the eastern corridor.  As a result 
of the planning and site work accomplished by CUFI, MCPRD can gain some beneficial use of 
the construction documents and expedite the construction process.  The value of the plans and 
site work provided by CUFI has been valued at $53,517 plus the potential of an additional 
$10,223 if existing permits and surveys are usable. 

(21) NATIONAL GARDENING ASSOCIATION YOUTH GARDEN GRANT

Approve submission of application for the National Gardening Association Youth Garden Grant  
for FY 2006; and recognize, receive and appropriate funds if grant is accepted by the National  
Gardening Association. 

Note: The Therapeutic Recreation Division currently has a small gardening program for teens  
and young adults who have disabilities. This grant would be utilized to increase the reach of this  
program and strengthen the opportunities for participants within the existing program. 

(22) COPS 2005 TECHNOLOGY GRANT (OMS) – SHERIFF’S OFFICE

Recognize, receive and appropriate funds from the COPS 2005 Technology Grant in the amount 
of $70,000 and recognize, receive, and appropriate interest income earned on this grant during 
the term of this grant in accordance with grant requirements.   

Note: The 2005 COPS Technology Grant will allow the Sheriff’s Office to purchase an Offender 
Management System (OMS) community software module / address enhancements needed to the 
Offender Management System, which interfaces with the new CJIS system.   The enhancements are 
needed to address business process and security improvements centered on inmate movement, 
program participation and mugshot integration. 

(23) CDBG OPTIONAL COVERAGE RELOCATION POLICY

Adopt an Optional Coverage Relocation Policy for the Community Development Block Grant  
Scattered Site Housing Program. 

Policy recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # _______. 

(24) WEB SECURITY - IST

Approve requirement contracts for procuring Blue Coat Technology Equipment based on  
available funding, to Forsythe Solutions Group in an estimated amount of $129,802.  

Note: Blue Coat is a web content filtering solution to block access to inappropriate web content. 
This solution replaces and enhances the existing web caching/site filtering solution. 

(25) TAX REFUNDS

31



13

Approve refunds to be made by the Finance Department as requested by the Tax Assessor in the  
amount of $11,634 resulting from clerical errors, audits and other amendments. 

A list of the refund recipients is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

(26) KILBORNE PARK RENOVATIONS CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

Award a construction contract to Eaglewood, Inc. in the amount of $401,300 for Kilborne Park  
renovations. 

(27) LAND EXCHANGE IN CAMP GREENE PARK AREA

Adopt a resolution entitled:  Mecklenburg County Board of Commissioners Resolution 
Authorizing the Exchange of a Portion of Tax Parcel 067-113-44 at Camp Greene Park for Tax 
Parcels 067-084-08 and 067-084-18 on Royston Road and a Portion of Tax Parcel 067-084-32 
on Weyland Avenue. 

Resolution recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # _______. 

THIS CONCLUDED ITEMS APPROVED BY CONSENT 

_______________ 

(9) CONTRACT FOR PURCHASE OF A HYBRID VEHICLE

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner Bishop and unanimously 
carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts, and 
Woodard voting yes, to defer consideration of a unit price contract for a hybrid vehicle sedan with 
Hendrick Honda at $19,550, until the December 6, 2005 meeting. 

Commissioner Roberts and Bishop removed this item from Consent because of questions regarding 
bidders.  

Note: The appropriate staff was not present to address this issue, which is why it was deferred. 

(10) REVISIONS TO THE MECKLENBURG COUNTY AIR POLLUTION
CONTROL ORDINANCE (MCAPCO)

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner Rembert and  
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting yes, to adopt revisions to the Mecklenburg County Air  
Pollution Control Ordinance (MCAPCO) by reference. 

Commissioner Roberts removed this item from Consent for more clarification regarding the  
revisions.  

Randy Poole with Air Quality addressed the revisions. 

A summary of the revisions is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

Ordinance recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # _____. 

(15) NC CLEAN WATER MANAGEMENT TRUST FUND GRANTS

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner Rembert and  

32



14

unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting yes, to approve the submittal of McAlpine Creek - Sardis 
to Providence Road; Little Sugar Creek – 3rd to 7th Street; and McDowell Creek Watershed 
wetland construction/stream restoration grant applications to the North Carolina Clean Water 
Management Trust Fund; and upon award of grants, recognize, receive and appropriate the grant 
awards. 

Commissioner Roberts removed this item from Consent for more public awareness. 

(18) GREENWAY DONATIONS

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner James and  
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting yes, to accept the donation of Tax Parcels #025-148-76  
(8.73 acres) and a portion of 025-181-20 (9.2016 acres) on Long Creek from Centex Homes,  
LLC. 

Note: These parcels will add to the greenway assemblage along Long Creek. They are located in 
the Northwest Park District.   

Commissioner Roberts removed this item from Consent for more public awareness. 

STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTS 

(28) PARK MASTER PLAN ADOPTION AND PARK NAMING FOR NEW WEST
PARK IN THIRD WARD

This item was removed from the agenda. 

(29) AMENDED TRANSIT GOVERNANCE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT

Motion was made by Commissioner Clarke, seconded by Commissioner James and unanimously  
carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts  
and Woodard voting yes, to approve amendments to the Transit Governance Interlocal  
Agreement. 

Note: These amendments include issues related to the timing of adding a North Carolina 
Department of Transportation (NCDOT) representative as a voting member of the MTC; the 
timing and criteria for adding representatives of jurisdictions outside of Mecklenburg County as 
voting members of the MTC; the need for amendments to certain provisions of the Interlocal 
Agreement that may be potential impediments to continue implementation of the System Plan 
(Budget Approval, New Membership, Under Representation Issues); and the reconstitution and 
Agreement to the eight original signatories (Mecklenburg County, City of Charlotte, Towns of 
Huntersville, Davidson, Mint Hill, Pineville, Cornelius, and Matthews) for adoption. 

Ron Tober, Charlotte Area Transit System CEO addressed this matter. 

Summary of Governance Changes 

NCDOT 
• NCDOT to become voting member of MTC in recognition of their funding partnership
• Representative could be NCDOT Board of Transportation Member or person designated by Secretary
• Timing: as soon as possible

Adding additional voting members from surrounding counties 
• Refer to as new "non-party" voting members to MTC
• To become a member:

- Completion of FTA sanctioned studies
- Demonstrated financial commitment

33



15

- Adoption of transit supportive land use and zoning policies

Under representation Issue 
• No action recommended or approved
• Revisit issues when 11 voting members on MTC is imminent

Future role for CTAG 
• CTAG to continue with present make up of 13 members
• Revised mission, with seven primary activities/responsibilities:

- Transit program review, comment, recommendation
- Transit Policy review, comment, recommendation
- Review, comment, recommendation on Corridor rapid transit alignment and Preliminary
- Engineering and Environmental Study technology plans
- Provide community insight and proactive efforts towards transit plans and system performance
- Provide input and advice on community awareness efforts related to transit oriented land use
planning
- Provide proactive effort to increase community awareness on value of investing in transit

• CTAG meeting schedule to change
• Future MTC review of CTAG mission

Transit Program Review and Approval 
• City Council review to continue
• Mecklenburg County Board of Commissioners review discontinued
• New dispute resolution procedure

- Charlotte Mayor appoints 3 City Council members
- BOCC Chair appoints 3 non-city MTC members
- Resulting committee meets within 60 days to resolve differences and recommend to City Council and
MTC an agreed upon transit program and budget

Timing of Annual Transit Program Submission 
• Previous requirement of Staff submittal to MTC by December 15
• Approved change

- Staff submittal to MTC by January 30
- MTC review in January/February/March
- MTC action by April 30
- City Council review/approval in May

Future Amendments to Transit Governance Interlocal Agreement 
• City Council and Mecklenburg County Board of Commissioners must approve any amendments

- Recognizing City's fiduciary responsibility and County's role in enactment of
sales tax

• At least 75% of towns must approve any amendments
- Protects against a single town vetoing any amendment

Agreement recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # ____. 

(30) MATTHEWS INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT FOR LAND ACQUISITION

Motion was made by Commissioner James, seconded by Commissioner Clarke and unanimously  
carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts  
and Woodard voting yes, to approve an inter-local agreement with the Town of Matthews to  
acquire +/- 94.5776 acres on Matthews-Mint Hill Road and to lease the property to the Town for  
50 years. 

Park and Recreation Director Wayne Weston and Nancy Brunnemer with Real Estate Services  
addressed this issue, prior to the vote. 

Note: The subject agreement would allow the portion of the 1999 Land Bonds designated for 
Matthews’ use to be utilized in a different way than the original inter-local agreement provided. 
 In short, the Town’s share of those bonds would be encumbered for a time period during which 
the Town would determine whether to use those funds to purchase a particular pair of parcels on 
Matthews-Mint Hill Road with no match to the County’s funding.  Under this scenario, the 
County would own the land and lease the property to the Town for 50 years to be used for park 
and open space purposes.  The specific Tax Parcels are 215-163-01 (Purser Family) and 215-
163-11 (Hulsey Family) totaling approximately 94.5776 acres.  Under the new agreement, the
Town would be able to utilize their 2004 bond (of $5,000,000) to develop a park on the subject

34



16

property and also possibly acquire/develop other park and recreation facilities within their 
corporate limits.  The Town may choose not to utilize the County’s land bonds.   

Agreement recorded in full in Minute Book 42-A, Document # ____. 

(31) ROBBINS PARK LAND EXCHANGE & WESTMORELAND ATHLETIC
COMPLEX

Motion was made by Commissioner Bishop, seconded by Commissioner James and unanimously 
carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and 
Woodard voting yes, to direct County staff to work with Town of Cornelius staff and the developer 
to assemble necessary information to start the formal process for the Robbins Park land exchange 
with the developer and the revision to the Town of Cornelius park lease consistent with the Park and 
Recreation Commission and LUESA staff recommendations. 

Note: The Park and Recreation Commission recommendation was to endorse the Robbins Park Land 
Swap subject to the Huntersville Low Impact Design Standard and compliance with the 
Mecklenburg County Park and Recreation Department letter dated August 25, 2005.   

A copy of the letter is on file with the Clerk to the Board. 

LUESA staff recommendations were:  
1) All current forested areas remain forested and if there is any

disturbance, the proposed mitigation has to be approved by County Water
Quality prior to disturbance;

2) The Westmoreland Athletic Complex, the Waters/Simonini development and
Robbins park will comply with the Huntersville LID Ordinance; and

3) An easement be granted to the County (approved by Storm Water) by
Waters/Simonini development for potential greenway, stream restoration and
stream buffer enhancements along McDowell Creek.

Robert Patterson, Chairman of the Park and Recreation Commission and Lee Jones of Park and 
Recreation addressed this issue prior to the vote. 

Westmoreland Athletic Complex 

The Board then considered the Westmoreland Athletic Complex issue. 

Robert Patterson, Chairman of the Park and Recreation Commission, Lee Jones of Park and 
Recreation, and Wayne Weston, Park and Recreation Director addressed this issue.   

Motion was made by Commissioner Roberts, seconded by Commissioner Mitchell, to defer 
consideration of the Westmoreland Athletic Complex issue until a report is received from the 
County Manager with respect to a reprioritization of existing land bonds, unspent and currently 
allocated. 

Commissioner Roberts said that the motion was being made in light of the recent failure of land 
bond. 
Commissioner Bishop asked whether the Westmoreland proposal fit into the County’s Park Master 
Plan? The response from Director Weston was that this was not a project that is identified in the 
County Park Master Plan, nor was it consistent with the County’s Master Plan. 

Commissioner Puckett expressed concern for the availability of the fields to all citizens, since it 
appeared that the developer would control the property on the weekends during baseball/softball 
season. Commissioner Puckett said that the best that the citizens get out of this proposal was some 
additional practice fields during the week. 

Commissioner Puckett said he would support the deferral, which would give County staff time to 
address his concern with respect to availability, along with addressing the status of fields in the area, 
and what could be done with these funds otherwise.  

35



 17

 
Anthony Roberts, Town Manager for Cornelius, Town Attorney Bill Brown, and Town Park and 
Recreation Director Paul Herbert addressed this issue 
 
Town Manager Roberts informed the Board that the $1.5 million for the Westmoreland Athletic 
Complex was a priority for the Town. Town Manager Roberts said the Town would not have a 
problem with the County taking another look at the other $2 million and how it should be prioritized. 
 
Town Manager Roberts said the Town of Cornelius went through the Park and Recreation 
Commission process as requested by the Board and that they have been working with County staff to 
develop the terms sheet. He noted that they have been using the Queens College agreement as a 
model for developing their agreement. He asked that the Board move forward with approving the 
project because it was a high priority for the Town of Cornelius. 
 
Town Manager Roberts noted also that the facility was for public use 100% and that minority 
contracting was being addressed. 
 
Commissioner Clarke asked Director Weston whether the agreement between the Town of Cornelius 
and the private business that’s going to operate the facility be subject to the County’s approval? 
 
Director Weston said he did not believe the agreement would be subject to the Board’s approval. 
 
Commissioner Clarke suggested the Board not approve the proposal unless it has the right to 
approve the agreement between the Town of Cornelius the private business that’s going to operate 
the facility. 
 
Town Manager Roberts said he would want the County’s approval.   
 
County Manager Jones noted that there appeared to be some inconsistencies in the information that 
was being received from Cornelius.  
 
County Manager Jones said there was confusion about what the real outcome will be for this project. 
  
County Manager Jones asked for clarification with respect to the deferral and the reprioritization of 
land bonds. He asked was it correct to move forward with the reprioritization, which would include 
the Westmoreland Athletic Complex, but with the understanding that the Westmoreland Athletic 
Complex was still subject to the Board’s review and action on the County Manager’s recommended 
reprioritization. 
 
It was the consensus of the Board that the County Manager’s interpretation was correct. 
 
Commissioner Puckett said he felt the Westmoreland Athletic Complex would be an asset to 
Cornelius, however, he has to look beyond the economic impact of this for the Town.  
 
Commissioner Puckett said he also has to look at how the County uses it limited resources and what 
the deliverable is. 
 
Commissioner Puckett said he was not convinced, at this time, with respect to the deliverable of this 
project.  
 
Cornelius Park and Recreation Director Herbert said the agreement the Town of Cornelius would 
enter into with the private entity for the Westmoreland Athletic Complex would be the same type of 
First Right of Reservation agreement the County has at other park facilities, such as at the 
Renaissance park and what occurs already in Huntersville. 
 
Commissioner Puckett asked would the facility be ran by a for-profit organization or non-profit? 
 
Cornelius Town Attorney Brown said it would be ran by the Town, a non-profit government, with 
the private entity being under a contractual agreement with the Town, using essentially the identical 
documents that the County has used for its Queens athletic facilities at Marion Diehl Park. 

36



18

Commissioner Woodard expressed concern regarding the availability of the facility to the public, 
since it would be used by the private entity 32 weekends out of the year. 

Cornelius Town Attorney Brown asked the Board to consider keeping the Westmoreland Athletic 
Complex issue separate from the land bonds issue. 

Chairman Helms noted that there was still confusion with respect to the project and conflicting 
information regarding the availability of the facility to the public. He said these types of conflicting 
statements and documents need to be cleared up. 

Chairman Helms asked that the agreement concerning the Westmoreland Athletic Complex be 
provided to the Board.  

Chairman Helms concurred also that the Board should deal with the reprioritization of land bonds as 
a separate issue.  

Following further discussion of this matter, Commissioner Roberts amended her motion, which 
was seconded by Commissioner Woodard, to defer consideration of the Westmoreland Athletic 
Complex issue, pending the receipt of a draft of the agreement concerning the Westmoreland 
Athletic Complex and the Board’s questions being answered. 

The vote was then taken on the motion as amended and unanimously carried with 
Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and 
Woodard voting yes.  

Commissioner Mitchell left the dais and was absent until noted in the minutes. 

(32) ANNEXATION OF COUNTY PROPERTY BY TOWN OF CORNELIUS

Motion was made by Commissioner Puckett, seconded by Commissioner Woodard and  
carried 8-0 with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and  
Woodard voting yes, to authorize the County Manager to execute a petition for the voluntary  
annexation of the County’s 101-acre Robbins Tract into the Town of Cornelius. 

Commissioner Mitchell returned to the dais. 

Chairman Helms, and Commissioners Bishop and Puckett left the dais and were absent until 
noted in the minutes. 

Vice-Chairman Rembert chaired the meeting until noted in the minutes. 

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS REPORTS AND REQUESTS 

(34) NACO CONFERENCE 2011 OR 2012

Motion was made by Commissioner Mitchell, seconded by Commissioner Roberts and carried 
6-0 with Commissioners Clarke, James, Mitchell, Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to
authorize the Chairman to submit a letter of interest to the National Association of Counties
(NACo) to host the 2011 or 2012 NACo Annual Conference here in Mecklenburg County.

Commissioners Puckett, Bishop and Chairman Helms returned to the dais. 

(35) HIV/AIDS DISEASE COUNCIL

Motion was made by Commissioner Woodard, seconded by Commissioner Clarke and  

37



19

unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts and Woodard voting yes, to approve the creation of an HIV/AIDS Disease  
Council but with an amendment to the composition, which is the deletion of the two advocate  
positions. 

HIV/AIDS Disease Council Charge and Composition 

Charge of the HIV/AIDS Disease Council 

In January 2004, the HIV/AIDS Task Force presented its findings and recommendations to the 
Mecklenburg County Board of County Commissioners.  Included in the recommendations was the 
formation of an HIV/AIDS Disease Council.   The charge of the Council, as presented in the HIV/AIDS 
Task Force report, would be to act as a broad-based coordinating body that would focus on a 
communitywide, coordinated system of service delivery for prevention and care. This would be 
accomplished in the following ways: 

• The Council would address the continuum of prevention and care services required by HIV
disease, bring community assets such as support and collaboration to bear, convene shared
planning processes, research and make recommendations on best practices and systems
gaps, and provide a collaborative base for seeking additional funding.

• The Council would develop an action plan beyond the proposed First Steps Plan and
monitor its progress.

• The Council would be inform he Commissioners in their roles as the Board of Health, on
current trends and needs related to HIV disease in the community twice a year, or more
frequently if needed.

• Three positions on the proposed Council should be permanent.  They are:
o Mecklenburg County Health Director
o Chair of the HSC Health Committee
o Member of the Board of County Commissioners Community Health and Safety

Committee (as appointed by the Board).

• The remaining positions should be filled using CDC guidelines.  A template is below (as
outlined at the 6/21 Community Health and Safety meeting):

o Three persons who reflect the characteristics of the epidemic in the County
o Three local Health Department staff members
o An expert in Epidemiology, an expert in behavioral science, an expert in the social

sciences, an expert in program evaluation and an expert in health planning.
o Three representatives of key non-governmental organizations relevant to, but who may

not necessarily provide, HIV prevention services (ex. Faith and business community)
• The proposed Council would meet quarterly with the Community Health and Safety FALT
• The proposed Council would meet semi-annually with the Community Health and Safety

Committee of the Board of County Commissioners
• Members of the proposed Council would serve staggered three year terms

Note: The following occurred prior the above vote: 

 Commissioner Puckett questioned the need for the  two advocate positions, in light of the fact  
that County staff appointed to the council would be advocates.   

Commissioner Woodard, who proposed and addressed the creation of the council agreed to  
delete the two advocate positions, as suggested by Commissioner Puckett. 

Commissioner Woodard said that what she was asking for at this point was the  
establishment of the council and that the charge and composition could be adjusted at a later  
date, if necessary. 

General Manager Janice Jackson presented the initial proposal. 

Chairman Helms resumed chairing the meeting. 

38



20

(36) COPS ISSUANCE FOR COMMONSENSE SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION

Motion was made by Commissioner Bishop, seconded by Commissioner James and failed 6-3 
with Commissioners Clarke, Helms, Mitchell, Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting no and 
Commissioners Bishop, James, and Puckett voting yes, to build new schools and new seat 
additions targeted to relieve severe overcrowding by the issuance of Certificates of Participation 
(COPs) in a cumulative amount not to exceed $254 million for the following project list: 

Southeast High School 
Belmeade Road Middle School 
Ridge Road Middle School 
Belmeade Road Elementary School 
Bradley Elementary School 
Dixie River Road Elementary School 
Elon Park Elementary School 
Hucks Road Elementary School 
Idlewild Road Elementary School 
Providence Road Elementary School 
North Mecklenburg High School Addition (16 classrooms) 
South Mecklenburg High School Addition (9 classrooms) 
Alexander Middle School Addition (6 classrooms) 
Alexander Graham Middle School Addition (17 classrooms) 
Cochrane Middle School Addition (10 classrooms) 
McClintock Middle School Addition (9 classrooms) 
Idlewild Elementary School Addition (2 classrooms) 
Long Creek Elementary School Addition (9 classrooms) 

To facilitate and carry out this action, the Board directs the County Manager: 
1. To develop in consultation with Charlotte-Mecklenburg Schools staff a debt-issuance

schedule and such technical ordinances or resolutions as may be required to effectuate
this COPs-funded construction package, with initial debt issuance by April 2006;

2. To tailor the debt-issuance schedule and technical ordinances or resolutions to a
construction scheduler for the listed projects that prioritizes them according to severity of
overcrowding conditions they are expected to relieve and to accomplishing completion of
each project at the earliest practicable time;

3. To develop proposed action(s) as needed for the county-owned site on Highway 51 to be
made available for the construction of the Southeast High School listed above;

4. To evaluate and make recommendations to the Board, in cooperation with CMS staff, as
to the possibility of management of these projects through Mecklenburg County Real
Estate Services;

5. To evaluate in light of existing and projected overcrowding at North Mecklenburg High
School, the alternative of a new high school at the existing CMS Bailey Road site in lieu
of the 16-classroom addition project in the above list, for a net increase in the maximum
funding amount commensurate with such revision; and

6. To bring action items to the Board within 60 days for the consummation of the COPs
financing authorization.

Prior to the above vote, the following persons spoke in support of Commissioner Bishop’s 
proposal: 

Kaye McGarry, a member of the Board of Education 

The following persons spoke in opposition: 

Dwayne Collins 
Richard McElrath 
Queen Thompson 

39



21

The following person was neither in favor or opposition but expressed support for the building of 
new schools and seats as soon as possible, Samuel R. Spencer, IV. 

The proposal was also addressed by several of the Commissioners. 

(37) BUILDING CONSENSUS ON A CMS CAPITAL PACKAGE

Motion was made by Commissioner Rembert, seconded by Commissioner Roberts and  
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett,  
Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting yes, to Direct the County Manager to develop and  
recommend a consensus-building process that asks stakeholders to help build a school capital  
package that will be supported by the community. 

Note: This was proposed by Chairman Helms in light of the fact that On November, 8, 2005, the  
voters of Mecklenburg County said, “No” to a $427 million bond referendum for schools and a  
$66 million bond referendum for land. 

Commissioner Roberts asked that staff also keep in mind the land bonds issue, as well. 

COMMISSION COMMENTS – General comments were made at this time by various 
Commissioners regarding upcoming events and/or events they attended, as well as, other matters 
which they deemed note worthy.  

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion was made by Commissioner Puckett, seconded by Commissioner Mitchell, and 
unanimously carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, 
Rembert, Roberts, and Woodard voting yes, that there being no further business to come before 
the Board that the meeting be adjourned at 10:18 p.m. 

____________________ 

______________________________ ____________________________
Janice S. Paige, Clerk H. Parks Helms, Chairman

40



41



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 1 of 7 

METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
MEETING SUMMARY 

October 25, 2023 

Presiding:  Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte 

Present:  
Commissioner Leigh Altman (MCBOCC) 
County Manager Dena Diorio (Mecklenburg) 
City Manager Marcus Jones (Charlotte) 
Andrew Grant (Town Manager, Cornelius) 
Mayor Rusty Knox (Town of Davidson) 
Mayor Melinda Bales (Town of Huntersville) 
Anthony Roberts (Town Manager, Huntersville) 
Mayor John Higdon (Town of Matthews) 
Mayor Brad Simmons (Town of Mint Hill) 
Brian Welch (Town Manager, Mint Hill) 

Mayor Jack Edwards (Town of Pineville) 
Ryan Spitzer (Town Manager, Pineville) 
Tony Lathrop, Esq. (NCDOT) 
City Councilman Edmund Driggs (Charlotte) 
City Councilman Braxton Winston (Charlotte) 
Patrick Baker, Esq. (City of Charlotte) 
Mayor Walker Reid III (City of Gastonia) 
L. J. Weslowski (Transit Director, City of Concord)
Mayor Pro Tem David Scholl (Town of Stallings)

Interim CATS Chief Executive Officer: Brent Cagle 

I. Call to Order
The hybrid regular meeting of Metropolitan Transit Commission was called to order at 5:30pm
by MTC Chairwoman Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte.

II. Review of Meeting Summary
The meeting summary of September 27, 2023 was approved.

III. Public Comments - None

IV. Transit Work Group Update – No Meeting

V. Interim Chief Executive Officer’s Report – Based on pages 15-32 in the MTC Agenda Packet for
October 25th, 2023 

Discussion: 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE: Starting on page 15 and running through page 32, of your 

packets, are the updates on the safety reports, the ridership reports, and the sales tax report.  I 
would take any questions if there are any.  These are the same reports that we provide monthly 
on safety ridership and sales tax. 

Ridership 
I will note on ridership, we continue to see increases in ridership steadily.  Year-over-

year we are still below where we were pre-COVID.  We are seeing some positive trends really 
across all of our modes of transportation post-COVID. 

Also, on ridership, a big part of ridership is missed trips and frequency, we talked about 
that at length throughout the sessions today.  Our missed trips, a little bit up from last month, 

42



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 2 of 7 

but still, below the 5% threshold that we have established.  They were around 4% in September, 
about 3% the prior month. 
 
Sales Tax 
 Sales tax reporting, you will note that I asked staff to go back to the standard reporting 
that we have always been doing or the standard formatting for the sales tax reporting that CATS 
had always been doing for probably as long as there has been an MTC and this report out there. 

We were looking at the state statute and while it seems a bit counter intuitive, it is in 
the state statute this way to count total population in effect doubling the total population by 
County of Mecklenburg County total population once, and then counting all of the towns, 
including Charlotte as additional population above and beyond the Mecklenburg County 
population.  That results in a total population for this calculation of 2,175,457; using those 
population numbers, and then converting a percent of total.  The rest of the revenues on a 
monthly and then annual basis are allocated accordingly. 
 I apologize, it was my mistake last month for alternating from that and I apologize for 
that. 
 

COUNTY MANAGER DIORIO (Mecklenburg):  Just looking at the DSS trips and looks like 
there's some pretty significant swings from year to date for fiscal year 23-24.  420 last year to 
5,316 this year.  If you look at the monthly numbers, 329 vs 112, can you talk to me a little bit 
about the wild swings in the DSS transportation. 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  This has been something that we've been looking into 
because we've seen the wings.  Commission Altman had asked about it last month as well. 
It is not that the ridership is swinging.  As we understand it, we're still trying to get to the 
bottom of it with the county but as we understand it, it's not that the ridership is swinging.  The 
county only reports to us the riders that are associated with dollars spent on the sales tax 
revenue.  Because they have been using, I believe COVID money or had been in the past, there 
had been no reporting of the passengers.  It's a reporting issue that we are working on with 
county, it is not reflective of swings in ridership, it's reflective of the funding that has been 
utilized over the last few years. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  l want to say that before this meeting, we had an all-
day long session, regarding budget, and operations.  I want to say thank you to the team for the 
work that they did.  I believe it was a very valuable discussion and time well spent.  Really 
appreciate all of you that participated, particularly those of you who worked to make all of 
those presentations possible. 

 
VI.         Informational Item 

Transit Governance Interlocal Agreement Discussion based on pages 34-36 in the MTC Agenda 
Packet for October 25th, 2023 meeting. 
 
Discussion: 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  When we had our last meeting, we had an idea that 
we would have lawyers represented from both the City and the County that we would have a 
beginning of a discussion on governance in the interlocal agreement.  Last week, I found that we 
did not have a meeting with the lawyers.  We have put together, I think, some idea that's going 
to be open for discussion here.  I sent out a memo saying that we as the city, while we may 

43



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 3 of 7 

remain committed to addressing the concerns of our partners as we work towards this common 
good of a good transit system, economic opportunity, that we gave an example of the 
agreement that was done for the amendments in 2005 and we talked about the idea or at least I 
spoke in the memo to say to you that I thought that that was a good process. 
 I think that we all know that we have differences, sometimes, and I wanted to make 
sure that if we were going to proceed in this direction or another direction.  I'm going to open 
the floor for comments or a process idea.  
 
 MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  In regards to a process, I think it would be 
beneficial not only to have all of the town managers participate, but also, have the attorneys 
participate in that same meeting.  I think that that seems like a compromise to me between 
what everyone was considering. 
 
 MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  I had trouble figuring out what was amended in 
2005?  I had trouble trying to disseminate in the information that we had on the interlocal 
agreement what was actually amended?  How sensitive that was, and if it were a select group of 
managers?  I’m like Melinda, if we're going to do this, I would prefer to have all managers 
involved and legal representation as well. 
 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Mr. Baker or Mr. Thomas; would you explain what 
the topic was in 2005, please? 
 
 PATRICK BAKER (Legal Representative-City of Charlotte):  What I know, by reading the 
minutes.  Again, l'm Patrick Baker, Attorney for the City of Charlotte; at least there was the 
budget process where both the budget, where the budget was presented to both the City and 
the County.  The County wanted to be out of that process.  It just went to the City.  I don't know, 
Brad, if there are other more things that were involved in that as well. 
 
 BRADLEY THOMAS (City of Charlotte Attorney’s Office):  Yeah.  When the interlocal was 
formed in 1999, after that we had a study done, after a few years to kind of understand how the 
process worked and see if there were ways to improve it. 
 They had that study, I believe it was done by UNC-Charlotte and that study was 
completed in 2003-2004 and they took some of the recommendations of that study, and then 
they used that to make changes to the interlocal agreement. 
 Specifically, in terms of those provisions.  I don't recall. 
 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  History wasn't defined as well as we would like it to 
be. 
 

MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  Is there any possibility of getting a copy of that 
study? 
 

BRADLEY THOMAS (City of Charlotte Attorney’s Office):  Yes. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  We'll send that out to the voting members as well. 
 

MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  Is it possible, also the minutes, as well. 
 

44



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 4 of 7 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  The minutes as well as a copy of the report.  Mayor 
Bales, would you propose that as a motion? 
 

MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  Absolutely.  I would propose that we would 
approve the coming together a meeting of not only the town managers but also attorneys and 
the County Manager and discussing the interlocal agreement for the MTC. 
 

MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  Second. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  We have a motion and a second, is there any 
discussion? 
 

JARRETT HURMS (TSAC Co-Chairman):  As the town managers and attorneys get 
together, I do advise to be sure, whenever you think about how the interlocal agreement is 
presently and how you would like to have it improve or have it adjusted, just make sure to think 
about these citizen groups.  Making sure that whatever kind of comes out of it, make sure that 
we are thought about in the process.  Thank you. 
 
Resolution:  A motion to approve the meeting of not only the town managers but Legal 
Representatives and the Mecklenburg County Manager to discuss the interlocal agreement for 
the MTC was made by Mayor Melinda Bales (Town of Huntersville); seconded by Mayor Rusty 
Knox (Town of Davidson).  Motion carried unanimously.  

 
VII. Action Item  

November & December 2023 Meeting Schedule    Brent Cagle  
Brent Cagle – CATS Interim Chief Executive Officer – presented for action the November and 
December 2023 Meeting Schedule; based on page 38 in the MTC Agenda Packet for October 
25th, 2023 meeting. 

 
Resolution:  A motion to move the November 22nd meeting to November 15th to begin at 
2:30pm and end at 5:30pm.  Also, to cancel the December 27th meeting was made by Mayor 
John Higdon (Town of Matthews); seconded by Mayor Brad Simmons (Town of Mint Hill).  
Motion carried unanimously.  
 

VIII. Transit Services Advisory Committee (TSAC)’s Comments 
 Jarrett Hurms (Co-Chairman) reported the following:  We had our meeting a couple of 
weeks ago and we had a few presentations.  Jessica Lanier from CATS Customer Service.  She 
overviewed the process within their office.  How they kind of work with the metrics when it 
comes to customer service.  How they escalate certain customer service issues and how they 
kind of work with social media complaints.  During the presentation, she went over some of 
their data and stats about some of the overview -- year to date kind of customer service issues, 
some of which being things -- a late bus, which meets this kind of when you're thinking about 
staffing levels, making sure that those are getting pumped up to be able to make sure that level 
decreases.  Next were the STS operator related things or a passenger was passed by a bus, those 
are things to be kind of wary of.  Because from a stats-wise, those are larger issues from a data 
perspective. 

45



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 5 of 7 

We went through the service change proposition.  Looking at the 57 and the 235.  That's 
South Park and Goodwill.  Looking at alternate ways to provide the appropriate head ways for 
them, but also being able to serve the communities in West Charlotte effectively. 

Pamela White talked about her newly formed role within customer experience and how 
that differs from customer service and how it's a new approach and kind of thinking about from 
a more proactive stance, from a customer standpoint.  Thinking about the more holistic through 
and through the customer experience from start to finish, not just one issue within a particular 
bus ride.  An overview from those and talking about as she grows within her role.  That's very 
exciting to be hearing in future meetings. 

We welcome a new member from the Town of Matthews by the name of Betryn Byrd.  
An excellent new addition.  She brings in a lot of perspectives; including talking about issues 
within network communication, from a customer standpoint, how that might need to be 
improved, the 64X.  She definitely brings in a great perspective.  I do thank the Town of 
Matthews for bringing her on as a new member on TSAC. 

Discussion: 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Thank you very much.  I definitely on the blockages, 

that's the entire effort around this.  While it wasn't explicit, we will make sure that it is 
communicated, and it will become explicit over as we talk about how we're doing this and a lot 
of this has to do.  I know many of our towns have these truck issues and we were not increasing 
the penalties to make it actually the penalties were actually less costly than the consequences of 
making a real decision to park somewhere.  We are going to be very active in that. It may take a 
little bit of time, because we want to make sure that the people are prepared for it.  I think it's 
something that's really due.   We'll do that for bus stations along the way as well with our 
signage as well. 

EDWARD TILLMAN (CTAG Co-Chairman-City of Charlotte):  I am in agreement with 
Krissy regarding the abilities to have a combined citizen’s transit group that we're not splitting 
the conversations, splitting the efforts, and support for the community from that perspective. 

How that's accomplished, certainly there's work to be done with that.  l'm sure that 
there are reasons why they were split from the beginning.  I think it is something that does 
deserve some consideration. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I would agree.  I thank you for bringing that up.  I 
think it's time for us to look at all of those and things and we certainly support the idea of 
working better and making it a better work environment for what we're trying to accomplish.  
Thank you for that. 

IX. Citizens Transit Advisory Group (CTAG) Chairman’s Comments
Jeffery Parker (Co Chairman- Mecklenburg County):  l'm going to be doing this month's 

report since this is Mr. Tillman's last meeting. 
First off, I would like to thank him for his dedicated service, and his hard work, especially 

through the COVID times.  He's going to be a tough act for me and whoever else will be a co-
chair.  He'll be a tough act to follow for us.  

We had a discussion during our meeting of a restatement of what our responsibilities 
were as CTAG and also along the lines of that discussion, had a discussion of how TSAC and 
CTAG could begin to work more efficiently and coordinate our work a little bit more. 

46



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 6 of 7 

We also had discussion of the FY25 budget, that just kind of getting some background 
information on that and what's to come. 

Finally, we had a little bit of a discussion around bus service, some issues that are 
continuing to be addressed.  Mr. Cagle addressed those and told us, just essentially stand by, 
they're working on it.  Bottom line is, we are continuing to notice issues with bus service, 
especially on the express routes. 

Discussion: 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Thank you.  I want to add the appreciation from the 

MTC members to you, Mr. Tillman.  I think that you have served with such dignity and patience, 
perhaps, for all of us, and we really appreciate that.  I would like to ask if you have any 
comments that you would like to make for the group, we're glad to listen to you as this is your 
last meeting. 

EDWARD TILLMAN (Co Chairman-City of Charlotte):  Certainly.  Thank you, Mayor Lyles 
and all of the members of MTC.  Seems like l've been here for probably a decade.  It's been 
close, but I have absolutely enjoyed getting a significant education on the transportation 
situations, positive, negative and otherwise, that have occurred in our city from prior to my 
arrival in 1998 and through this time and although nothing is ever perfect as we seek it to be, 
certainly, we have made significant improvements.  There's never a good deal for everybody.  If 
everybody is upset, that means that the deal is probably right for everybody. 

Certainly, I look forward to seeing what happens and I really have enjoyed my time 
serving the City and look forward to doing it in other measures as well. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Again, our appreciation and gratefulness. 

X. Other Business
Discussion:

MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  I would like to acknowledge the presence of former 
Charlotte Mayor Richard Vinroot in the room. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Mayor Vinroot is part of our legacy, and our ability.  I 
have to say, the last time that I saw Mayor Vinroot, he was celebrating a very controversial 
issue, much like the ones that we have on our table tonight. 

When he actually had the vision to say the consolidation of CMPD and the County Police 
Department, was going to make a difference.  Thirty years later, here we are.  It was your vision 
and your action that made it possible.  He had a lot of support as well from the number of staff 
people that were working in this area.  

I just want to say that without vision, we don't do so well.  You gave us that vision and 
we really appreciate that, Mayor.  Thank You Very Much. 

FORMER MAYOR VINROOT:  Wonderful community and a wonderful local government. 
l've been proud to have my association with it.  I hope I didn't mess it up too much. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I doubt seriously if you could do that. 

XI. Adjourn

47



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary October 25, 2023 Page 7 of 7 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:59 p.m. by Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte – MTC 
Chairwoman. 

NEXT MTC MEETING:  WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 15TH, 2023; STARTS AT 2:30 P.M. 

48



49



From: Hunter, Brandon
To: Cagle, Brent
Subject: CATS Bus Incidents
Date: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 6:51:00 PM

Dear MTC Mayor and Managers,

I hope this message finds you well. I am writing to provide detailed information concerning two
separate incidents that have recently occurred within our CATS bus services. Both incidents are
unrelated and are currently being investigated by the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Police Department
(CMPD). Please find below comprehensive details of each incident as compiled by our CATS staff:

Incident on Oct. 31, 2023 - Route 19
At approximately 8:45 p.m., Bus 2140 was traveling on Park Road.
A passenger onboard, upset, approached the bus operator, accusing the operator of almost
leaving the stop before they could board.
The passenger began raising their voice, verbally threatening the bus operator, and a heated
exchange ensued.
The bus operator pulled over, to contact the Bus Operations Command Center (BOCC).
The conflict escalated to a physical altercation between the passenger and the bus operator.
A supervisor arrived, the physical altercation had stopped at this time, and spoke with the bus
operator and passenger.
The disruptive passenger eventually left the scene before CMPD arrived.
CMPD is actively investigating this incident.

Incident on Nov. 1, 2023 - Route 211
At approximately 2:26 p.m., Bus 2675 was traveling on Sugar Creek Road.
An altercation took place between two passengers and was stabbed by the other.
The bus operator contacted the BOCC, requesting immediate assistance from the Medic and
CMPD for the injured passenger.
The alleged assailant left the scene before the police arrived.
Fortunately, no other passengers or the bus operator were injured in this tragic incident.
CMPD is actively investigating this incident.

We deeply regret these unfortunate occurrences and are committed to full cooperation with the
CMPD to facilitate and expedite the investigative processes.

We wanted to update you all about these incidents, as more information comes available, we will
send it to you all.

Thank you,
Brandon

Brandon T. Hunter  (he/him/his)
Director, Communications
Charlotte Area Transit System
Mobile (704) 621-8343 | brandon.hunter@charlottenc.gov

50

mailto:Brandon.Hunter@charlottenc.gov
mailto:Brent.Cagle@charlottenc.gov
mailto:brandon.hunter@charlottenc.gov


600 East 4th Street| Charlotte, NC 28202

Connect with CATS: Website | Facebook | X | Instagram | YouTube | LinkedIn | Flickr

CATS Media Line (980) 722-0311

51

file:////c/ridetransit.org
https://www.facebook.com/CharlotteAreaTransitSystem
https://twitter.com/CATSRideTransit
https://www.instagram.com/ridecats/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXS04Y2ZE01BLmuaPHSNT1w
https://www.linkedin.com/company/charlotte-area-transit-system?original_referer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F
https://www.flickr.com/photos/199119645@N03/albums


52



Fatality Incidents Preventable Collisions w/ Damage ≥ $500
Goal: 0 per 100k mi Goal: 0.5 per 100k mi

January 0 923,601 0.00 January 4 923,601 0.43
February 0 837,470 0.00 February 9 837,470 1.07
March 0 945,219 0.00 March 2 945,219 0.21
April 0 878,901 0.00 April 1 878,901 0.11
May 0 917,647 0.00 May 2 917,647 0.22
June 0 889,593 0.00 June 3 889,593 0.34
July 0 889,099 0.00 July 4 889,099 0.45
August 0 939,346 0.00 August 1 939,346 0.11
September 1 867,111 0.12 September 4 867,111 0.46
October 0 939,973 0.00 October 4 939,973 0.43
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries (Employee & Customer) System Reliability
Goal: < 1 per 100k mi Goal: < 10 per 100k mi

January 1 0 923,601 0.11 January 119 923,601 12.88
February 0 1 837,470 0.12 February 90 837,470 10.75
March 2 4 945,219 0.63 March 98 945,219 10.37
April 1 18 878,901 2.16 April 99 878,901 11.26
May 0 1 917,647 0.11 May 107 917,647 11.66
June 0 4 889,593 0.45 June 105 889,593 11.80
July 2 13 889,099 1.69 July 107 889,099 12.03
August 0 0 939,346 0.00 August 102 939,346 10.86
September 1 0 867,111 0.12 September 102 867,111 11.76
October 1 11 939,973 1.28 October 95 939,973 10.11
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Rate

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

Bus Revenue MilesCY 2023 Incidents Bus Revenue Miles

Incidents

Rate Formula

Bus Revenue Miles

x.xx

Customer Injuries

*= Rate per 
100,000 miles

100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

Bus Operations Division Safety Performance Measures

CY 2023 Employee Injuries Bus Revenue Miles Rate CY 2023

Rate CY 2023

Rate Formula

= 100,000 =x.xx *

RateIncidents

53



Bus Operations Division Safety Performance Measures

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1

0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
FA

TA
LI

TI
ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS BOD Fatalities

1 0 2 1 0 0 2 0 1 10 1 4

18

1 4

13

0 0

11

0

5

10

15

20

25

# 
O

F 
IN

JU
RI

ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS BOD Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries
(Employee & Customer)

Employee Injuries Customer Injuries

4

9

2
1

2

3

4

1

4 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS BOD Preventable Collisions ≥ $500

119

90
98 99

107 105 107 102 102
95

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS BOD System Reliability Incidents

54



Fatality Incidents Preventable Collisions w/ Damage ≥ $500
Goal: 0 per 100k mi Goal: 0.3 per 100k mi

January 0 171,142 0.00 January 0 171,142 0.00
February 0 164,394 0.00 February 0 164,394 0.00
March 0 184,635 0.00 March 1 184,635 0.54
April 0 160,338 0.00 April 0 160,338 0.00
May 0 169,378 0.00 May 0 169,378 0.00
June 0 165,612 0.00 June 0 165,612 0.00
July 0 165,903 0.00 July 0 165,903 0.00
August 0 178,541 0.00 August 1 178,541 0.56
September 0 167,222 0.00 September 1 167,222 0.60
October 0 180,560 0.00 October 0 180,560 0.00
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries (Employee & Customer) System Reliability
Goal: < 1 per 100k mi Goal: < 3 per 100k mi

January 0 0 171,142 0.00 January 15 171,142 8.76
February 0 0 164,394 0.00 February 2 164,394 1.22
March 0 0 184,635 0.00 March 11 184,635 5.96
April 0 0 160,338 0.00 April 20 160,338 12.47
May 0 0 169,378 0.00 May 12 169,378 7.08
June 0 0 165,612 0.00 June 12 165,612 7.25
July 0 0 165,903 0.00 July 9 165,903 5.42
August 0 0 178,541 0.00 August 16 178,541 8.96
September 0 0 167,222 0.00 September 11 167,222 6.58
October 0 0 180,560 0.00 October 17 180,560 9.42
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Rate per 100,000 
miles

CY 2023 Employee Injuries STS Revenue Miles Rate

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 =

Customer Injuries

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 100,000 
miles

CY 2023 Incidents STS Revenue Miles Rate

=

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 100,000 
miles

x.xx * 100,000

Rate Formula

= Rate per 100,000 
miles

Special Transportation Service Safety Performance Measures

CY 2023 Incidents STS Revenue Miles RateCY 2023 Incidents STS Revenue Miles Rate

55



Special Transportation Service Safety Performance Measures

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
FA

TA
LI

TI
ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS STS Fatalities

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
IN

JU
RI

ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS STS Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries
(Employee & Customer)

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0
0

2

4

6

8

10

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS STS Preventable Collisions ≥ $500

15

2

11

20

12 12

9

16

11

17

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS STS System Reliability Incidents

56



Fatality Incidents Preventable Safety Events (FTA Reportable)
Goal: 0 per 100k Revenue Car mi Goal: 0.1 per Revenue Car 100k mi

January 0 130,949 0.00 January 0 130,949 0.00
February 0 123,072 0.00 February 0 123,072 0.00
March 0 138,277 0.00 March 0 138,277 0.00
April 0 132,083 0.00 April 0 132,083 0.00
May 0 137,129 0.00 May 0 137,129 0.00
June 0 132,069 0.00 June 0 132,069 0.00
July 0 126,973 0.00 July 1 126,973 0.79
August 0 139,812 0.00 August 1 139,812 0.72
September 0 132,711 0.00 September 0 132,711 0.00
October 0 October 0
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries (Employee & Customer) System Reliability (Major Mechanical Failures)
Goal: < 1 per 100k Revenue Car mi Goal: < 3 per 100k Revenue Car mi

January 0 0 130,949 0.00 January 9 130,949 6.87
February 0 0 123,072 0.00 February 10 123,072 8.13
March 0 0 138,277 0.00 March 4 138,277 2.89
April 0 0 132,083 0.00 April 6 132,083 4.54
May 0 0 137,129 0.00 May 3 137,129 2.19
June 0 0 132,069 0.00 June 4 132,069 3.03
July 0 0 126,973 0.00 July 3 126,973 2.36
August 0 0 139,812 0.00 August 3 139,812 2.15
September 0 0 132,711 0.00 September 8 132,711 6.03
October 0 0 October 3
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

* 100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

CY 2023

Rail Operations Blue Line Safety Performance Measures

Total Car Revenue 
Miles

CY 2023

Incidents Rate

Total Car Revenue 
Miles

Rate Formula

Total Car Revenue 
Miles

RateEmployee Injuries

Incidents Total Car Revenue 
Miles

Rate

Rate Formula

= x.xx

100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

Incidents Rate

Rate Formula

x.xx *

Customer Injuries

CY 2023

Rate per 
100,000 miles

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

= x.xx * 100,000 =

Rate Formula

CY 2023

=

57



Rail Operations Blue Line Safety Performance Measures

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
FA

TA
LI

TI
ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Blue Line Fatalities

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
IN

JU
RI

ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Blue Line Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries
(Employee & Customer)

Employee Injuries Customer Injuries

0 0 0 0 0 0
1 1

0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Blue Line Preventable Safety Incidents
(FTA Reportable)  

9
10

4

6

3
4

3 3

8

3

0

3

6

9

12

15

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Blue Line Major Mechanical Failures

58



Fatality Incidents Preventable Safety Events (FTA Reportable)
Goal: 0 per 100k Revenue Car mi Goal: 0.1 per Revenue Car 100k mi

January 0 11,696 0.00 January 0 11,696 0.00
February 0 10,695 0.00 February 1 10,695 9.35
March 0 11,793 0.00 March 0 11,793 0.00
April 0 10,574 0.00 April 0 10,574 0.00
May 0 11,766 0.00 May 0 11,766 0.00
June 0 10,506 0.00 June 0 10,506 0.00
July 0 8,950 0.00 July 0 8,950 0.00
August 0 9,781 0.00 August 0 9,781 0.00
September 0 7,369 0.00 September 0 7,369 0.00
October 0 October 0
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries (Employee & Customer) System Reliability (Major Mechanical Failures)
Goal: < 1 per 100k Revenue Car mi Goal: < 3 per 100k Revenue Car mi

January 0 0 11,696 0.00 January 0 11,696 0.00
February 0 0 10,695 0.00 February 1 10,695 0.28
March 0 0 11,793 0.00 March 0 11,793 0.00
April 0 0 10,574 0.00 April 3 10,574 0.85
May 0 0 11,766 0.00 May 1 11,766 0.25
June 0 0 10,506 0.00 June 0 10,506 0.00
July 0 0 8,950 0.00 July 1 8,950 0.34
August 0 0 9,781 0.00 August 2 9,781 0.61
September 0 0 7,369 0.00 September 1 7,369 0.41
October 0 0 October 0
November November
December December

# of incidents # of incidents
# of revenue miles # of revenue miles

=

Rate Formula

Rail Operations Gold Line Safety Performance Measures

CY 2023 Incidents Total Car Revenue 
Miles

Rate

Rate per 
100,000 miles

Rate per 
100,000 miles

= x.xx * 100,000 = x.xx 100,000

Rate per 
100,000 miles

CY 2023 Incidents Total Car Revenue 
Miles

Rate

Rate Formula

CY 2023 Employee Injuries Total Car Revenue 
Miles

RateCustomer Injuries

= x.xx * 100,000 =

Rate Formula

= x.xx * 100,000 = Rate per 
100,000 miles

=

CY 2023 Incidents Total Car Revenue 
Miles

Rate

Rate Formula

*

59



Rail Operations Gold Line Safety Performance Measures

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
FA

TA
LI

TI
ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Gold Line Fatalities

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

1

2

3

4

5

# 
O

F 
IN

JU
RI

ES

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Gold Line Total NTD Major Reportable Injuries
(Employee & Customer)

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

2

4

6

8

10

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Gold Line Preventable Safety Incidents
(FTA Reportable)

0 1 0
3

1 0 1 2 1 0
0

3

6

9

12

15

# 
O

F 
IN

CI
DE

N
TS

CALENDAR YEAR 2023

CY 2023 CATS Gold Line Major Mechanical Failures

60



61



Mode / Service YTD YTD Percent

Oct-22 FY 2024 FY 2023 Increase/Decrease WeekDay Saturday Sunday

Local

  BOD Local 501,431 2,350,957 1,769,154 32.89% 22,637 16,691 12,202

  Subtotal 501,431 2,350,957 1,769,154 32.89% 22,637 16,691 12,202

Local Express

  Arboretum Express - 4,399 - n/a 50 - -

  Harrisburg Road Express 983 4,678 3,694 26.64% 57 - -

  Northcross Express 2,385 10,820 9,185 17.8% 129 - -

  Idlewild Road Express 755 3,335 2,774 20.22% 42 - -

  Independence Blvd Express 1,728 7,786 6,184 25.91% 109 - -

  Lawyers Road Express 920 5,128 3,327 54.13% 58 - -

  Mountain Island Express - 904 - n/a 11 - -

  Northlake Express 1,529 8,393 5,914 41.92% 92 - -

  North Mecklenburg Express 3,334 14,942 12,887 15.95% 199 - -

  Huntersville Express 2,504 12,971 9,652 34.39% 143 - -

  Rea Road Express 963 5,257 4,714 11.52% 54 - -

  Steele Creek Express - 1,498 - n/a 21 - -

  Huntersville Greenhouse Express 153 812 535 51.78% 17 - -

  Subtotal 15,265 80,923 58,877 37.44% 982 -

Regional Express

  Gastonia Express 608 3,741 2,744 36.33% 40 - -

  Rock Hill Express 685 3,721 2,650 40.42% 54 - -

  Union County Express 639 3,081 2,644 16.53% 35 - -

  Subtotal 1,932 10,543 8,038 31.16% 129 -

Community Circulator

  Neighborhood Shuttles 14,072 70,650 52,088 35.64% 707 443 272

  Eastland Neighborhood Shuttle 9,517 39,966 33,008 21.08% 376 357 232

Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Oct-23

Percent Avg Daily Ridership per Month

Oct-23 Increase/Decrease

625,774 24.8%

625,774 24.8%

1,100 n/a

1,253 27.47%

2,841 19.12%

931 23.31%

2,388 38.19%

1,266 37.61%

245 n/a

2,031 32.83%

4,370 31.07%

3,144 25.56%

1,191 23.68%

451 n/a

378 147.06%

21,589 41.43%

870 43.09%

1,180 72.26%

763 19.41%

2,813 45.6%

18,677 32.72%

10,869 14.21%

62



Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Oct-23

  Pineville-Matthews Road 1,660 9,932 6,062 63.84% 205 60 -

  Village Rider 4,517 20,018 15,604 28.29% 233 123 71

  Subtotal 29,766 140,566 106,762 31.66% 1,521 983 575

Human Services Transportation

  Special Transportation Services 15,543 62,528 60,668 3.07% 630 301 203

  DSS* 1,072 5,316 1,492 256.3% - - -

  Subtotal 16,615 67,844 62,160 9.14% 630 301 203

Rideshare Services

  Vanpool* 3,798 10,996 15,062 -27.0% - - -

  Subtotal 3,798 10,996 15,062 -27.0% - -

Rail

  LYNX Blue Line 420,933 2,038,609 1,775,550 14.82% 17,817 11,467 8,713

  CityLynx Gold Line 52,446 193,961 199,639 -2.84% 1,761 1,037 882

  Subtotal 473,379 2,232,570 1,975,189 13.03% 19,578 12,504 9,595

Total 1,042,186 4,894,399 3,995,242 22.51% 45,477 30,479 22,575

*Data unavailable at time of reporting*

4,744 185.78%

5,967 32.1%

40,257 35.24%

16,058 3.31%

TBD -

n/a n/a

TBD -

n/a n/a

481,397 14.36%

1,235,198 18.52%

47,310 -9.79%

528,707 11.69%

63



Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Oct-23

Source:

Fixed Route Bus - Automatic Passenger Counts

Rail - Automatic Passenger Counts

Mode / Service Oct-23 Oct-22

Percent 

Increase / 

Decrease Weekday Saturday Sunday

Local

BOD Local 745,969  681,095  9.5% 26,273 19,178 17,100

Subtotal 745,969  681,095  9.5% 26,273 19,178 17,100

Local Express

Arboretum Express 1,148      - - 50            - -

Harrisburg Road Express 1,476      1,367      8.0% 64            - -

Northcross Express 3,912      3,554      10.1% 170          - -

Idlewild Express 1,007      960          5.0% 44            - -

Independence Blvd Express 3,096      2,511      23.3% 135          - -

Lawyers Road Express 1,516      1,252      21.1% 66            - -

Steele Creek Express 710          - - 31            - -

Northlake Express 2,955      2,754      7.3% 128          - -

North Mecklenburg Express 5,827      5,334      9.2% 253          - -

Huntersville Express 4,168      3,980      4.7% 181          - -

Rea Road Express 1,356      1,667      -18.6% 59            - -

Mountain Island Express 363          - - 16            - -

Huntersville Greenhouse 139          182          -23.3% 6              - -

Subtotal 27,673    23,561    17.5% 1,203      - -

Regional Express

Gastonia Express 1,333      961          38.8% 58            - -

Rock Hill Express 1,328      1,290      3.0% 58            - -

Union County Express 1,059      1,004      5.5% 46            - -

Average Daily Ridership

64



Subtotal 3,721      3,254      14.3% 162          - -

Community Circulator

Neighborhood Shuttles 22,964    19,752    16.3% 850          530          340          

Eastland Neighborhood Shuttle 12,815    11,360    12.8% 432          362          360          

Pineville-Matthews Road 2,783      2,700      3.1% 103          106          -

Village Rider 7,165      7,108      0.8% 238          222          206          

Subtotal 45,727    40,920    11.7% 1,623      912          906          

Human Services Transportation

Special Transportation Services 16,058 15,543 3.3% 609 266 198

DSS* - 1,072 - 6 0 0

Subtotal 16,058 16,615 - 615 266 198

Rideshare Services

Vanpool* - 3,798 - 151 40 51

Subtotal - 3,798 - 151 40 51

Rail

LYNX Blue Line 481,397 420,933 14.4% 17,817 11,467 8,713

CityLynx Gold Line 47,310 52,446 -9.8% 1,761 1,037 882

Subtotal 528,707 473,379 11.7% 19,578 12,504 9,595

Total 1,367,854 1,242,621 10.1% 49,605 32,901 27,850

*Data unavailable at time of reporting*

65



October 2023 Missed Trips & Ridership 
Reports

Bus Service Missed Trips Highlights
 Missed trips declined in October to the lowest levels since March 2023

Ridership Highlights
 October 2023 Systemwide Automatic Passenger Counter ridership is up 7.5% compared to October

2022
• Local Routes were up 9.5%
• Express routes were up 17%
• Overall Rail ridership increased 11.7%

• Blue Line ridership increased 14.4%
• Gold Line ridership decreased 9.8 %

66



67



68



69



Sales Tax Collections and Distribution – August 2023

• The August 2023 receipts of $14,784,351 were $2,424,351 (19.6%) above budget
target for the month

• The August 2023 receipts were $1,291,351 (9.6%) above forecast for the month

• The August 2023 receipts were $1,901,738 (14.8%) above August of 2022

Sales Tax Budget Data
• FY2024 sales tax budget is $150,000,000
• The FY24 model forecasts year-end receipts of $165,052,266 is $15,052,266

(10.03%) above the FY-2024 budget target of $150,000,000
• FY2023 actual sales tax was $154,638,512

Local Government Sales and Use Tax Distribution

• Source: North Carolina Department of Revenue Sales & Use Distribution Report for
the month September 30, 2023

• Published by NC Secretary of Revenue on November 9, 2023 with actual receipts
through September 30, 2023

• CATS sales tax report only includes Mecklenburg County Article 43 sales tax

NOVEMBER|CATSSalesTaxReport FY2024
August Receipts



71



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
ACTION ITEM 

STAFF SUMMARY 

SUBJECT:  Independence Busway Restoration - Update   DATE: November 15, 2023 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: The purpose of this item is to provide an update on the estimated 
cost for the restoration of the Independence Boulevard busway. 

2.0 BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION: The Independence Boulevard busway was closed in 
2017 during construction of the Hawthorne Lane bridge for the CityLYNX Gold Line 
Phase 2 streetcar project.  It was anticipated to remain closed while NCDOT converted 
the busway to express lanes as part of the Independence Blvd widening.  NCDOT 
funding shortfalls delayed the NCDOT project and conversion of the busway to the toll 
facility. 

In 2022, CATS recommended restoration of busway operation in the interim period.  Five 
CATS express routes would operate in the busway: 40X, 46X, 51X, 64X, and 74X. The 
project requires the modification of the entrance and exit of the busway near the 
Hawthorne Lane bridge.  A Municipal Agreement was signed with NCDOT for NCDOT to 
manage and execute the work.  The original estimated cost for the project was 
$750,000.   

In June 2023, NCDOT completed final design for the project in and provided a revised 
cost estimate of $1.3 million. On July 26, 2023, the MTC approved an amendment to 
add $550,000 to the Independence Busway Restoration project budget. 

NCDOT advertised the project for bid on July 19, 2023. No bids were received, so the 
project was readvertised on October 3, 2023. Two bids were received.  Based on the 
actual low bid amount, the total cost estimate for project, including design, construction, 
inspection and contingency is now $1.7 million. 

3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND:  Municipal Agreement with NCDOT was executed 
November 2022. 

4.0 POLICY IMPACT:  N/A 

4.0  ECONOMIC IMPACT: The Busway restoration project is estimated to provide significant 
travel time savings for current riders, as well as reduce bus operating costs by 
approximately $106,000 per year. To support this project, an amendment to the FY2024 
Capital Investment Plan (CIP) is needed to increase the project budget by $950,000, to a 
total of $1.7 million. 

5.0  ALTERNATIVES: N/A 

6.0  RECOMMENDATION: Approval to amend the FY2024 Capital Investment Plan (CIP) to 
add $950,000 to the Independence Blvd Busway Restoration Project, based on actual 
bids.  

72



7.0  ATTACHMENT(S): N/A 

SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 

_________________________________________ 
Brent Cagle 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System 
Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

73



74



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
ACTION ITEM 

INFORMATION SUMMARY 

SUBJECT: CATS February 2024 Service Change Proposals      DATE:  November 15, 2023 

1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE:  CATS is seeking approval on two routing proposals for Routes 57 
and 235. Proposed changes are summarized below: 

• Route 57 – Archdale
o Extended service on weeknights after 9pm
o New service on Sundays
o Proposed elimination of service to Forest Park Business Park

• Route 235 – Goodwill
o Extended service on weeknights after 9:30pm
o Extended service on Saturdays after 4:30pm
o New service on Sundays
o Proposed elimination of service to Goodwill Campus, Seymour Dr, Scott

Futrell Dr, and West Blvd between Old Steele Creek Rd and Clanton Rd.
Portions of eliminated service will be maintained through other bus routes
that operate in close proximity

BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION:  CATS received requests to expand service hours 
along Routes 57 and 235 to improve access for riders to key destinations including the 
McCloed Center, Valerie Woodard Center, Wilkinson Wal Mart, Phillip O. Berry High 
School and the Central Piedmont Community College Harris Campus. Additionally, 
CATS is seeking to improve overall reliability along both routes which currently 
experience challenges in meeting on time performance targets. With the proposed 
changes, CATS will be able to use existing resources to expand service hours along 
each route which includes adding new service on Sundays.  

2.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND:  N/A  

3.0 POLICY IMPACT:  N/A 

4.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT:  N/A 

5.0 ALTERNATIVES:  N/A 

6.0 RECOMMENDATION:  CATS conducted engagement in October 2023 and based on 
feedback received from the public meetings and survey, the recommendation is to move 
forward with the changes to Routes 57 and 235 in February 2024.  

7.0 ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Route Changes 

75



Route 57 Proposed Changes 

Route 235 Proposed Changes 

76



SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 

__________________________________________ 
Brent Cagle 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System 
Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84


	Cover 20231115
	DRAFT - MTC Agenda 20231115
	M051115
	MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
	The Chairman announced that the notice of the public hearing was published in The Charlotte Observer on November 3, 2005.
	Approve $250,000 purchase price for 3.14-acre Tax Parcel 029-331-14 off Johnston-Oehler Road by the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education for Mallard Creek High School.
	(19) COMMUNITY HOUSE ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS
	(23) CDBG OPTIONAL COVERAGE RELOCATION POLICY
	(24) WEB SECURITY - IST 
	STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTS

	Motion was made by Commissioner Clarke, seconded by Commissioner James and unanimously 
	carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts 
	and Woodard voting yes, to approve amendments to the Transit Governance Interlocal 
	Agreement.
	Summary of Governance Changes
	(30)       MATTHEWS INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT FOR LAND ACQUISITION

	(31) ROBBINS PARK LAND EXCHANGE & WESTMORELAND ATHLETIC COMPLEX
	Commissioner Mitchell left the dais and was absent until noted in the minutes.
	(32) ANNEXATION OF COUNTY PROPERTY BY TOWN OF CORNELIUS
	Motion was made by Commissioner Puckett, seconded by Commissioner Woodard and 
	carried 8-0 with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and 
	Woodard voting yes, to authorize the County Manager to execute a petition for the voluntary 
	annexation of the County’s 101-acre Robbins Tract into the Town of Cornelius.
	COUNTY COMMISSIONERS REPORTS AND REQUESTS
	(34) NACO CONFERENCE 2011 OR 2012
	(35) HIV/AIDS DISEASE COUNCIL
	(37) BUILDING CONSENSUS ON A CMS CAPITAL PACKAGE
	ADJOURNMENT


	CTAG Governance Review 2003-2004 82809
	MTC Minutes Draft 202310
	CATS Comm - Bus Incidents
	MTC October ASP Monthly Report
	MTC GFI Ridership October 2023
	MTC APC Ridership October 2023
	MTC Missed Trip Report October 2023
	October 2023 Missed Trips & Ridership Reports
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3

	Sales Tax Report November 2023
	Slide Number 1

	MTC Action Item #1 - Independence Busway - Update 11152023
	SUBJECT:  Independence Busway Restoration - Update   DATE: November 15, 2023

	MTC Action #2 - February 2024 Service Change - 11-15-23
	INFORMATION SUMMARY
	SUBJECT: CATS February 2024 Service Change Proposals      DATE:  November 15, 2023


	PP#1-Svc Changes February 2024
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	M051115.pdf
	MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
	The Chairman announced that the notice of the public hearing was published in The Charlotte Observer on November 3, 2005.
	Approve $250,000 purchase price for 3.14-acre Tax Parcel 029-331-14 off Johnston-Oehler Road by the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education for Mallard Creek High School.
	(19) COMMUNITY HOUSE ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS
	(23) CDBG OPTIONAL COVERAGE RELOCATION POLICY
	(24) WEB SECURITY - IST 
	STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTS

	Motion was made by Commissioner Clarke, seconded by Commissioner James and unanimously 
	carried with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Mitchell, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts 
	and Woodard voting yes, to approve amendments to the Transit Governance Interlocal 
	Agreement.
	Summary of Governance Changes
	(30)       MATTHEWS INTER-LOCAL AGREEMENT FOR LAND ACQUISITION

	(31) ROBBINS PARK LAND EXCHANGE & WESTMORELAND ATHLETIC COMPLEX
	Commissioner Mitchell left the dais and was absent until noted in the minutes.
	(32) ANNEXATION OF COUNTY PROPERTY BY TOWN OF CORNELIUS
	Motion was made by Commissioner Puckett, seconded by Commissioner Woodard and 
	carried 8-0 with Commissioners Bishop, Clarke, Helms, James, Puckett, Rembert, Roberts and 
	Woodard voting yes, to authorize the County Manager to execute a petition for the voluntary 
	annexation of the County’s 101-acre Robbins Tract into the Town of Cornelius.
	COUNTY COMMISSIONERS REPORTS AND REQUESTS
	(34) NACO CONFERENCE 2011 OR 2012
	(35) HIV/AIDS DISEASE COUNCIL
	(37) BUILDING CONSENSUS ON A CMS CAPITAL PACKAGE
	ADJOURNMENT





